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5. CLASSIFICATION

OWNERSHIP OF PROPERTY: Privaie Public-locd; Public-gate
CATEGORY CF PROPERTY: Didrict
NUMBER OF RESOURCESWITHIN PROPERTY

CONTRIBUTING NONCONTRIBUTING

40 4 BUILDINGS

0 0 SITES

2 0 STRUCTURES
1 0 OBJECTS

43 4 TOTAL

NUMBER OF CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES PREVIOUSLY LISTED IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER: 0O
NAME OF RELATED MULTIPLE PROPERTY LISTING: Route66in Texas MPS

6. FUNCTION OR USE

HISTORIC FUNCTIONS: COMMERCE/TRADE: budness, gpedcidty gore, financial indituUon,
TRANSPORTATION: vehicular
RECREATION AND CULTURE: thester
DOMESTIC: dngle dweling, multiple dwelling, hotd
GOVERNMENT: city hall, pogt office

CURRENT FUNCTIONS: COMMERCE/TRADE: budness specidty sore, financial ingtitution,
TRANSPORTATION: vehicular
RECREATION AND CULTURE: thester
DOMESTIC: gngle dwelling, multiple dwelling, hotdl

7. DESCRIPTION

ARCHITECTURAL CLASSIFICATION: LATE 19™ AND 20™™ CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS
Commercd Style, Bungdow/Craftaman

LATE 19 AND EARLY 20™ CENTURY REVIVALS: Tudor Revivd
MODERN MOVEMENT: Art Deco
OTHER: 1-Pat Commercid Block, 2-Pat Commercid Block

MATERIALS: FOUNDATION CONCRETE

WALLS BRICK, CONCRETE, WOQOD, STUCCO
ROOF ASPHALT, METAL
OTHER GLASS, METAL

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION (Se continuation sheats 7-5 through 7-18).
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The McLean Commercid Historic Didtrict is located in the Texas Panhandle community of McLean (2005 pop. et
292). Located in the southeest comer of Gray County, McLean is 64 miles east of Amarillo off Interstate 40. McLean
was formed aong the tracks of the Rock Idand Railroad during the early twentieth century as a center of cattle and
agricultura production. The buildings within the historic district reflect two periods of constmction. On North Main
Strest are predominatdy one-gtory brick commercid buildings constmcted between 1914 and 1930. Along First and
Railroad Stregtsare primarily one-gtory brick and concrete block buildings congmcted between 1930 and 1954, mogt
of which reflect automobile-oriented businesses such as ges gations, automobile dedershipsand repair shops Almost
al of the buildings were originally constmcted for commercial uses but the district also includes three dwellings. The
digtrict retainsa high degree of integrity, with 40 of 44 buildings identified as contributing properties, aong with brick
dreets and both dignments of Route 66 dong Railroad and Firgt streets,

By the early 1920s McLean contained two blocks of brick commercid buildings containing avariety of budnesses
The desgnation of U.S. Route 66 through the town on First Street in 1926 spurred additional growth and devel opment,
and by the 1940sthe town supported a number of ges stations, automoabile repair shops, motels, and restaurants. The
increeeintraffic through the town inthe early 1950sresulted inthe widening of Railroad Strest and U.S. Route 66
weas redligned into two west-bound laneson First Street and two east-bound lanes on Railroad Street. Trafficon U.S.
Route 66 ran through the community until 1984 when it was bypassed by the constmction of Intergate 40,
gpproximatdy one-haf mile south of the district boundary.

The McLean Commercid Historic District encompassesall or parts of eight blocks in the downtown commercid
district of McLean dong sections of First, Commerce, North Main, Railroad, and Rowe Streets. From 1926 to 1952,
U.S. Route 66 was atwo-lane, eest-west highway aong the dignment of First Street. This dignment of U.S. Route 66
was changed in 1952 when Railroad Street was converted into two, east-bound lanesand First Street changed to two,
west-bound lanes.

The buildings within the historic district reflect two periods of constmction. On North Main Street are predominately
one-gory brick commercid buildings constmcted between 1914 and 1930. Along First and Railroad Stredts are
primarily one-gory brick and concrete block buildings constmcted between 1930 and 1954, mogt of which reflect
automobile oriented businesses such as ges stations, automobile dederships and repair shops. Almogt all of the
buildings were originally constmcted for commercia uses but the district also includes three dwellings.

Maog commercid buildings along North Main Street reflect the building form known as |-part commercid blocks.
Thes= ae buildings designed with traditional storefronts including large display windows, transoms, and entrances
with single-light glassand wood doors (Photos 1-3 and 10-11). Upper facade decoration was generdly confined to
brick pattemsoutlined with varying textures and colors, and severd buildings have corbelled brick comices. The
odeg buildinginthe digtrict is the two-story, O'Dell (Hindman) Hotel which was built in 1914. This building is of
brick congtmction and was remodded inthe early 1950swith an exterior of Perma-Stone (Photo 9). Also on North
Main Strest isthe Avalon Theater built in 1936 (Photo 12). The Avalon Thegter was desgned inthe Art Deco style
and retainsits original marquee and ticket booth.

Along Firg and Railroad Streets are deven buildings constmcted to serve as ges stations, automobile repair shops and
cax dederships The ges sations are particularly noteworthy as displaying the changing designsand forms of this
property type fromthe 1920sto the 1950s The oldest of theseis the curbside gas station with achamfered comer bay
built ca 1925 a 120 E. First Street (Photo 13). This ges station hes an original frame canopy and the building retains
much of its original character. Curbsde ges stationswere the first buildings known as "filling stations’ and evolved
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out of traditional downtown busnesses supplying gasoline in front of their stores." The sscond oldest ges Sation in
McLean isthe Phillips 66 Gas Station a 218 W. First Street buiU in 1929 (Photo 14). The Phillips Oil Company begen
operaionsin 1927 and the gss gation in McLean isthought to be the oldest Phillips Gas Station existing in Texes”
The building was designed ina"'Hous2' plan to ressmble an English Cottage, and this form was used by both Phillips
66 and the Pure Oil Company inthe early 20™ century. Mogt ges stationsin McLean built inthe 1930sto the early
1950s are forms known as "Oblong Box.' Built of concrete block or brick with succoed exteriors, these gss dations
werebuilt with flat roofs, offices with large anounts of plate glasswindows, and generdly incorporated one or more
garage bays. The ges dationsa 215 and 302 W. Firg Street and 201 W. Railroad Strest are reflective of this ges
gation building form (Photos 7, 18, and 20). Oblong Box formswere o built with projecting canopiesand ae
present & Mantooth's Chevron Station a 119 E. First Street and 101 W. Railroad Street (Photos4 and 19). The ges
gationsand other automobile oriented buildings congtitute over one-fourth of the propertiesin the McLean
Commercid Historic District.

The McLean Commercid Historic District contains forty-one buildings, of which thirty-seven or ninety percent are
condgdered to be contributing to the character of the district. Whilemany of the original Sorefronts have been dtered
with added doors and display windows, mog buildings inthe district retain their upper fagede decoration and detailing.
The non-contributing buildings include aca. 1925 bank building & 201-205 North Main Strest which was remodded

in 1975 with a mansard roof and an added brick fa@ade. The only post-1955 building inthe district isthe ca 1960
grocery sorea 115 North Commerce Street. The district includes the historic roedbeds of U.S. Route 66 on First and
Railroad Strestswhich are included as two contributing Smctures. Altogether, the downtown areaof McLean retains a
srong sen=e of time and place fromthe mid-20"" century and its automobile heritage dong U.S. Route 66.

INDIVIDUAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTIONS
Propertiesin the inventory are organized by street name and numerically by address Entries list the address of the
property, goproximate constmction date, and known historic nameswhere applicable.

115 N. Commerce Streset, ca. 1960 (NC)
One-gory ca 1960 commercid building. The building has a concrete foundation, barrel vault agphdt roof and an
exterior of irregular coursebrick. Infront of the building isaca 1960 ded sign pole.

N3 E. First Street, ca. 1925 (Barr Auto Service and Supply) (C)

One-gory brick and concrete block building congmcted ca 1925. For many yearsthe building housed the Barr Auto
Searvice and Supply Store operated by Lee Barr. The building hes a shed roof of metal panels, and a poured concrete
foundation. The main (S) facade hes an exterior of stretcher bond wire brick whilethe west and north facedes have
exteriors of ashlar faced concrete block. The storefront was remodded ca. 1980 and hes an exterior of vertica meta
pands. Above the storefront isaca 1980 metal canopy. The upper facade hes a rectangular Sign pand outlinedin
brick. At the rooflineis acorbdled brick comice. On the wes fagade is an entrance with origina paired five-panel
wood doors. Atthe rear isaca 1940 shed roof stucco wing.

" Jon A. e ad Keth Saulle, The Ges Sation in America, (Batimore: John Hopkins Universty Fress 1994), 135,
" Ddbert Trew, Parsord Interview, McLean, Texas 1 February 2006.

' Jon Magdies Runp and Ciraundance, Glory Days of the Gas Station, (New Y ork: Bulfinch Press 1993), 56.
* e ad Saulle 144.
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114 E. First Street, ca. 1925 (Consumer's Supply Company) (C)

One-gory brick building congtructed ca. 1925. Inthe 1940sand 1950s the building housad the Consumer's Supply
Company. The building hes a storefront added ca. 1970 with an duminum and glassdoor, single-light sddightsand a
threelight transom. Dividing the entrance and display windows are brick and stucco piers. The display windows were
added ca 1970 and ae four-light aluminum and glass design. The upper faBade hes a Succo exterior and Sepped
pargpet wall. The interior hes alinoleum floor, plaster walls and acousticd tile ceiling.

115 E. First Street, ca. 1920 (C)

One-gory brick building constmcted ca. 1920. The building hes a poured concrete foundation, aflat roof of agphalt
and an exterior of dretcher bond wire brick. The storefront was dtered ca 1970 with a panded wood door. The
digplay windows have been covered with wood pands. In the upper facade are decorative inset brick pands which
cregte a rectangular design. At the comersare soldier and sailor brick courses At the roofline is a pargpet wall of
dretcher bond brick. This building sheresa shed roof canopy with 117 E. First Street.

116 E. First Street, ca 1930 (B«&B Cafe) (C)

One-gory ca 1930 concrete block building with a stucco exterior. During the 1940sand 1950sthe building housed
svad redaurantsincluding the B& B Cafe. The building hes a storefront with an original Craftsman door of four
vertical lights and Sngle-pand design. Above the entrance is a rectangular transom enclosed with awood pand.
Hanking the entrance are original single-light glassand wood display windows, which rest on stuccoed bulkheads.
Above the display windows are origina six-light transoms. The upper facade has a Succo exterior. The interior hes
original concretefloors, plaster walls and a dropped acoudticd tile ceiling.

117 E. First Street, ca 1925 (C)

One-dory brick commercid building built ca 1925. The building hes a poured concrete foundation, aflat roof of
aghah and an exterior of stretcher course wire brick. The storefront has an original single-light glassand wood door.
Over the dooar, the transom hes been endosed with ca. 1980 wood pands The storefront hes threeca 1930 display
windows, which res on vertical board panels. Above the storefront is a soldier courselintel. At the roofline isa
parapet wall of soldier coursebrick. Extending acrossboth the 115 and 117 storefronts isaca 1960 wood canopy with
awood shingle roof and supported by sted tie rods. The interior has remnants of a pressed metd ceiling, an added
floor and wall surfaces.

N9 E. First Street (Mantooth's Chevron Station), 1945 (C)

One-gory, concrete block, brick and stucco gas dtation buih in 1945. The ges gation was built for Odell Mantooth and
the building replaced an earlier ges station & this location. Mantooth operated a Chevron Gas Station herefrom 1945
to 1981. The building has a poured concrete foundation, aflat roof of rolled agphdt and stucco exterior. The building
hes an office a the southeast comer and two garage bays. The office hes aca 1981 solid wood door flanked by ca
1931 single-light display windows. Extending on the south facade is an origina flat roof wood canopy. This canopy
hes an exterior and ceiling of ca 1970 wood pands. The canopy restson two sed pods. In front of the officeis an
ova concrete pump idand with the foundations of two ges pumps The eedt faBade of the building hes aca 1981
snglelight display windows and two entrancesinto the bathrooms. These entrance bays haveca 1981 solid wood
doors. The garage wing hes two original, twenty-light glassand wood overheed track doors. The interior of the office
hes an original concrete floor, plaster walls and wood ceiling. The remainsof asove flue are visible. The garage bays
have original wood ceilings, brick and concrete block walls and concrete floors.
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118120 E. First Street, ca 1925 (Panhandle Service Station) (C)

One-gtory concrete block and stuccoed ges gtation built ca 1925. The building was originally constmcted as a ges
gation and inthe 1940sand early 1950sit housaed the Panhandle Service Station. The building hes a poured concrete
foundation, aflat roof of metd pands, and an exterior of concrete block and stucco. The building hes a chamfered
comer with an original gable roof canopy over adrive-thm bay. This canopy is supported by an original brick and
ducco pier and largewood brackets. Inthe gable field of the canopy is an original stucco surface. The main entrance
hes awood door added 2005. Flanking the doors are origina four-light glassand wood display windows. The eedt bay
window hes been partially endosed with succo and displays a one-over-one wood sash window. The facade of the
chamfered bay hes an exterior surface of stucco. The eedt facade hes an original garage bay, which has been endosad
with ca 1990 wood pands. The north facade of the building hes an entrance with aca. 2005 wood door. This door hes
origind two-light dddlights, atwo-light transom, and above the entrance is a large rectangular transom. The wes bay
of the north facade hes an original four-light display window and a rectangular transom. Above the entrance and
window is a duccoed concrete lintel. The interior has an original concrete floor, dropped acoudticd tile ceiling and
plagter walls. A smdl section of original pressed metd ceiling is visible a the north wall.

[l W.First Street, ca. 1925 (C)

One-gory brick commercid building built ca 1925. The building hes a poured concrete foundation, aflat roof of
agphdt, and an exterior of tan stretcher bond brick. The storefront hes aca 1970 aluminum and glassdoor with
auminum and glassdisplay windows resting on brick bulkheads. Above the storefront is a belt course of heeder bond
brick. Above this bdt course is another belt course of soldier bond brick. In the upper faBede is arectangular Sign
pand outlined in brick with a stucco surface. At the rooflineis aflat wall of heeder bond brick.

113-115W. First Strest, ca. 1930 (C)

One-gory ca 1930 brick building with a stucco exterior. The building hes aflat roof of agphdyt, a concrete foundation,
and an exterior of stucco. The building hes two storefronts. The eadt (113) storefront hes aca 1990 glassand wood
door. Above the door isan original nine-light rectangular transom. The display window hes been covered with wood
pands. Above the display window is an original twenty-four light transom. The wes (115) storefront hes added wood
pandsover the display window and entrance. The transoms above the entrance and display window are origina and
match those on the 113 storefront. The upper facade hes a Succo exterior and a the rooflineis a stucco pargpet wall.
The interior hes an origina concrete floor, plaster walls ad tile ceiling.

116 W. First Street, ca. 1925 (City Hall) (C)

This building wes originally double its present dze, but the 110-114 section was demolished following afire. During
the 1930sthe building housaed the McLean City Hall. The building was constmcted ca. 1925 and hes aflat roof,
concrete foundation, and an exterior of Sretcher bond textured brick. The building hes a garage bay on the main facade
with aca 1950 twenty-light overheed track glassand wood door. The pedestrian entrance on this faBade hes aca 1950
sngle-light and three-pand glassand wood door. Above the storefront isa soldier courselintel. Inthe upper facade are
two window openingswith ca 1970 horizontal sash metd windows. Above the windows is a rectangular pand

outlined in heeder course brick. Within this brickwork are diamond shgped concrete pands. At the roofline is a sepped
pargpet with heeder course brick. On the eedt fagade of the buildingisaca 1970 wood daircase, which leedsto a
soond gory entrance. At the reer are two ca 1970-80 frame additions with vinyl siding.

119 W. First Street, ca. 1930 (Texas Service Station) (C)

One-gory ges dation and garage built ca 1930. For many yearsit was known as the Texas Sarvice Station and
operated by Emery Crockett. The building hes a recessed drive-thm bay on the main facade divided by brick pierson
concrete foundations. The building hes aflat roof of agphdt, a concrete foundation and exterior of textured stretcher
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bond brick. The office hes an origina storefront with a single-light glass and wood door, two-light display windows
and brick bulkheads. Above the door isarectangular transom. The drive-thm bay has a concrete deck and ceiling of
cormgated metd pands. The west bay next to the office has an original three-light Craftsman door, which leadsto a
restroom. The central bay of the building haes a garage entrance with aca 1980 overhead metd track door. The eedt
bay of the building hes astorefront which was usad for aperiod as aresaurant and tavem. This storefront hes an
origind single-light glassand wood door with an original single-light transom. This storefront d<so retains original
two-light display windows and brick bulkheads. The exterior walls of this recessed bay are of sducco. Theinterior of
the building has original concrete floors, wood ceilings and plaster walls. The business here had three pumps and sold
gss into the late 1990's. On the west facade are windows of stmctural glassblocks for the bathrooms. Thisfacade hesa
garage bay with aca 1980 garage door. Windows on this facade are ca. 1970 two-over-two horizontal sseh design.

120 W First Streset, (Dysart Motor Co./Ellison Maotor Co.), 1946 (C)

One-gory concrete and stucco building built in 1946. The building originally housed the Dysart M otor Company
which was an authorized Ford Dedlership. It was later the home to the Ellison Motor Company. The building hesa
barrd vault roof of agphdt, a concrete foundation and an exterior of Succo. The storefront on the north facade hes ca
1990 single-light windows and meta pands resting on concrete bulkheads. The entrance has ca. 1970 duminum and
glassdoors. In the upper facade isaducco exterior. Sgnege remans visible and is"Ellison Motor Co." On the west
facade facing Commerce Stret are three garage bays. Two have ca. 1990 overhead metd track doors, while the north
bay hes an origind fifty-six light glassand wood overhead track door. A pedestrian entrance on this feBade has aca
1990 metd panded door. Thisfacade ds0 has an original thirty-light sed and glass awning window. The window and
doors on this faBade have concrete lintels. At the rear (S) facade isan origina fifty-six light glass and wood overheed
track door and one-story wing with ca. 1970 metal garage doors. Theinterior has origina plaster walls, wood tmss
ceiling and concrete floor.

207 W. First Street, ca. 1920 (C)

One-dory ca 1950 concrete block building originaly built as ages station. The building has aflat agohah roof,
concrete foundation and stucco exterior. The office wing a the southeest comer has a canted bay on the main fegede.
The office hes two entranceswith ca 1960 auminum and glass doors. Display windows are dso aluminum and glass
design. The display windows rest on original stuccoed concrete bulkheads. The transom pands above the display
windows were enclosed with wood pands. The garagewing hes two garage bays. The eest bay hes aca 1970
overheed metd track door while the west bay has an original forty-eight light glass and wood overheed track door.
Two pedestrian entrances on this feBade have been covered with wood pands. Above the entrances are origina
rectangular transoms. Display windows adjacent to the doors are origina single-light glass and wood design and rest
on concrete bulkheads. A third pededtrian entrance has aca 1960 duminum and glass door with an original display
window, transom and concrete bulkheads. Attached to the garagewing isan original wood and meta canopy
supported by ded pogs Thisdrive-thm bay has a concrete deck and the posts are embedded into a concrete pump
idand. Thisidand has remnant of three ges pumps. The west fagade of the building hes four pairs of original sx-over-
sx wood saeh windows, which rest on concrete sills. The rear fagade hes four pairs of six-over-six wood sash windows
and agarage bay with aca 1970 overheed track door. The eedt fagade hes two garage bays, the north bay hesan
origina glassand wood diding track door and the south bay hes an original two-light glass and wood diding track
door. Theinterior of the office hes a concrete floor, panded walls and metd ceiling. The garage hes aged roof added
ca 1995, aconcrete floor and plagter walls. The upper fagade of the offlce wing hes added dentil molding.
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212 W. First Stredt, ca. 1935 (C)

Garage, ca. 1935 (C)

One-gory frame duplex with detached garage built ca 1935. The house hes agable roof of agphdt shingles, aconcrete
foundation and stucco exterior. The main (N) fagade has aca 1970 shed roof canopy supported by wood pods The
two entrances on the main fagede have original three vertical light Craftsman doors. On the west and eedt fagades are
sscondary entrances with similar doors. Windows are original one-over-one wood sagh. At the eavesare knee brace
brackets and eave rafters. At therear isan origina frame and stucco two-bay garagewith origina hinged doorsand a

gableroof.

213W. First Stredt, ca. 1925 (C)

One-gory frame and stucco gable front Bungalow built ca 1925. The house has agable roof of asphdt shingles, a
concrete foundation and succo exterior. On the main (S) fagade isapartial-width porch with tgpered wood pogts on
concrete piers. The porch has aconcrete railing and exposed rafters a the eaves The et bay of the porch hes bean
endosad with wood panels. Themain entrance has an original three-vertical light Craftsman door. Windows are
original one-over-one rectangular wood sagh. At the eaves are knee brace brackets.

218 W. First Street (Phillips 66 Gas Station), 1929 (C) Sign, (NC)

One-gory brick ges station built in 1929 as the first Phillips Gas Station in Texas. Theoriginal operator of the ges
dation isnot known but by the 1940s it was managed by W.L. Copeland. In 1959, the ges station was acquired by
Charles Weaver who operated the sation until it closed in 1977. The building wasremodded in 1991 to commemorate
its heritage on U.S. Route 66. The building was constmcted in the Tudor Revival style and hes agable roof of wood
shingles, aconcrete foundation, an exterior wall brick chimney and an exterior of gretcher bond brick. The entrance
hes arounded arch and a 1991 solid wood door with painted lights. The original windows have been removed and
replaced with wood pands with painted lights. The chimney on the main fagade has an origind metd "P" atached and
around stuccoed pand. At the rear isan entrance with a 1991 solid wood door. Infront of the building are two early
20*" century gss pumps and oil pump moved to thislocation. In front of the building isan historic Phillips 66 sgn
moved tothis location in 1991. Because this sign was moved to thislocation it isincluded as non-contributing.

215W. First Street, ca. 1950 (C)

One-gtory concrete and stucco ges dationbuih ca 1950. The building has aconcrete foundation, aflat roof of agpheh
and aducco exterior. Theoffice section a the SNV comer has aca 1970 single-light ded and glassdoor. The display
windows are original duminum and glass design and rest on concrete bulkheads. The transoms above the display
windows have been painted. The garage wing has two origina twenty-four light panded glass and wood overheed
track doors. Thewes fagade hes three entrances, which have been enclased with wood and stucco pands One
entrance led to the office and the others led to the bathrooms. The rear fagede has original twenty-four light duminum
and glasswindows and concrete sills. Theoffice retainsitsorigina plagter walls, concrete floor and dropped ceiling.
The garages have concrete floors, plaster walls and ceilings.

302 W. First Street (Guyton Motor Co.), 1950 (C)

One-gory concrete and stucco ges gation built in 1950. This building was constmcted for Raymond Guyton who
opearated awell-known ges station and tow tmck operation here until 1995. This building replaced an earlier Magnalia
Service Station on the property. The building hes aflat agphdt roof, concrete foundation, and stucco exterior. Onthe
main (N) fagadeis an office section, which has an origina single-light glass and wood door. The storefront retains
three original wood, copper and glass display windows. Thedisplay windows rest on concrete bulkheads. Abovethe
gorefront isawood canopy added ca. 1970. The garagewing hes two garage bays The eedt bay hes an origina thirty-
light glass and wood overhead track door. The west bay hes aca 1970 overhead metd door. On the west fegedeis a
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shed roof wing. The eedt, west and south fagades have original one-over-onewood sseh windows. On the rear fagede is
a garage bay with an original thirty-light glassand wood overheed track door. The interior of the office has an origind
concretefloor, plaster walls and dropped acousticd tile ceiling. Interior doors are originalfive-panelwood design. The
garegeinterior hes a concrete floor, plaster walls and a wood ceiling. On the main and rear fagades is painted " Guyton
Motor Co."

101-103 N. Main Street (Hindman Hotel), 1914 (C)

Two-gtory brick hotd building congtructed in 1914. The building was constructed by Fred 0"Dell in 1914 ad
originaly known &s the 0-Dell Hotdl. It was purchased in 1916 by the Hindman family and hes since been known as
the Hindman Hotel. The building is presently used for sorage. The building hes aflat agphdt roof, aconcrete
foundation and an exterior of ca. 1955 Perma-Stone over the brick fagade. The main (E) fagade hes two entrance bays.
The south bay hes a recessed entrance with an original single-light glassand wood door and single-light siddights. The
sddights res on origina frame bulkheads. The north bay entrance has an original single-light glassand wood door &
the sdewak leve. The display windows on the storefront are intact but covered with wood panels The display
windows res on bulkheads of Perma-Stone. Windows on the sscond story of the main fagade have been covered with
wood pands. The central bay of the upper fagade has an entrance opening which has been endlosed with awood pand.
This entrance led to abalcony. Windows on the south fagade are origina one-over-one wood seeh design. There are
five entrances on the south fagade that are origina single-light, three-pand glass and wood design with rectangular
transoms. At the rear is atwo-story wing with a stucco exterior.

106 N. Main Strest, ca. 1920 (C)

One-gory brick commercid building constmcted ca 1920. The building hes aflat roof of agphdt and aconcrete
foundation. The storefront is original and hes a single-light glassand wood door, frame bulkheads and two-light glass
and wood display windows. Over the entrance is atwo-light transom and above the windows are four-light transoms.
The upper fagade is conceded beneath added meta pands.

106 N. Main Stredt, ca. 1940/1980 (NC)
One-gory frame and stucco building built ca 1940. The building was remodeled extensively ca 1980 and hes an
exterior of succo, meta pandsand vinyl siding.

107 N. Main Street (Avalon Theater), 1936 (C)

Two-gtory brick theater building built in 1936. The theater ceasad operating inthe 1980sand it is presently vacant. The
building hes a concrete foundation, doping roof of wood and asphdt and the main fagade hes a Succo exterior. The
building hes an original recessed first story and ticket booth. The ticket booth is of wood constmction and hes
chamfered comers. The booth's original glasswindows remain intact. The booth and main fagede of the first floor hes
origind marblewainscoting. Above the wainscoting on the walls is a stucco exterior and below the celling is afascia
board with original stenciling. The floor of the recessad first Sory is of concrete. The building hes two entrances with
origina paired single-light glassand wood doors and the ceiling of the recessed first story is of plaster. The building
hes its original marquee of wood and metd constmction. The marquee hes a Sepped roofline with vertical fluting. At
the comersare round meta pandswith angular chevrons. The sscond floor of the theater hes two rectangular window
openingswith added wood panels. This upper fagade has a succo exterior with alarge centra pand of concrete with
Art Deco angular chevrons painted red, white and blue. The interior of the Avalon has a plager ceiling, plaster and
gencil wainscoting in the theater section and genciled plaster walls.
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108 N. Main Street, ca. 1930 (Brooks Dry Goods) (C)

One-gory brick commercid building built ca 1930. Inthe 1940sand early 1950sit housad the Brooks Dry Goods
Company. The building hes aflat agphdt roof, concrete foundation and exterior of stretcher bond brick. The building
hes a gorefront with two entrances. The north entrance hes an original single-light glassand wood door. The south
entrance has aca 1970 glass and wood door. Above this door is an original transom of ssmctural glassblock. Both
dorefronts have origina canted wood and glassdisplay windows on brick bulkheeds. Over the storefronts are wood
lintels. The upper fagade hes dretcher bond brick with soldier and sailor coursing & the roofline. The interior of 108 N.
Main Street hes plagter walls, afloor of wood and concrete and a dropped ceiling.

110 N. Main Street, ca. 1925 (C)

One-gory brick commercid building built ca 1925. The building hes aflat agohdt roof, concrete foundation and an
exterior of multi-colored textured stretcher bond brick. The storefront is recessed and has an original single-light glass
and wood door and two-light transom. The storefront hes original copper and glassdisplay windows resting on
duccoed brick bulkheeds. Above the storefront is an original twelve-light transom. Across the storefront is a meta
awning. The upper fagade has dretcher bond brick and inset concrete pands. At the rooflineis a Sepped pargpet with
headar bond brick. The interior hes an origina pressed metd ceiling above a dropped ceiling, a concrete floor and
plager walls.

112-118 N. Main Streset, ca. 1920 (White Auto Store) (C)

One-gory brick commercid building constmcted ca 1920. The building hes housed numerous busnessesincluding
the White Auto Store which occupied the 112 storefront in the 1940s The building hes a concrete foundation, flat
agphdt roof and an exterior of stretcher bond wire brick. The building was original built with four storefronts. The 112
storefront was remodded ca 1960 with an duminum and glassdisplay window. The storefront retains an origina
single-light glassand wood door and rectangular transom. The display windows rest on origina brick bulkheads.
Above the gtorefront is atransom bar and twelve-light transom. The interior hes ca. 1970 floor, wall and ceiling
finishes. Acrossthe width of the torefront isaca 1970 wood awning supported by kneebrace brackets The 114
storefront is subdivided into two sections. The south section hes aca 1930 glassand wood door and display windows.
The north section hes an original recessed entrance with a single-light glassand wood door, copper and glass display
windows and brick bulkheads. Over the storefront isaca 1980 wood awning supported by tie rods. The interior hes an
origind pressed metd celling, plaster walls and carpeted floor. The 116 storefront hes a recessed entrance with a ca
1970 panded metd door. The storefront has ca 1970 display windows on added brick bulkheads. Acrossthe storefront
isaca 1980 wood awning. The interior hes plagter walls, concrete floor and original pressed metd ceiling. The
entrance in the north bay (118) was enclosed ca 1970 with brick and this section is now part of the museum. The
upper fagade of the building hes an exterior of wire brick and a stepped pargpet with heeder course brick.

113 N. Main Street, (McLean Hardware) ca. 1920/ca. 2000 (NC)
One-gory brick commercid building constmcted ca 1920. The building was remodded ca. 2000 into its present form
with astucco and brick fagade, new doorsand awning.

115 N. Main Street, ca 1915 (Stubblefield Department Store) (C)

One-gory brick commercid building constmcted ca 1915. During the 1940sand 1950sit housad the Stubblefield
Depatment Store. The building hes aflat roof of agphdt, a concrete foundation, and an exterior of stretcher bond
brick. The storefront was remodded ca 1960 and hes aglassand duminum door, duminum and glass display
windows and bulkheeds of Formica. Across the width of the storefront is ametd awning. The transom area ebove the
sorefront hes been endosed with wood pands The upper fagade hes a recessed brick, rectangular pand. At the
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rooflineis acorbelled brick comice. Projecting from the upper fagade isa large metd sign with "Route 66 Antiques™
painted on the surface. The interior has awood floor, plaster walls and pressed metd ceiling.

117-119 N. Main Street, ca 1925 (McLean Food Store) (C)

Onegory brick commercid building buih ca 1925. During the 1940sand 1950sthe 119 storefront wes occupied by
the McLean Food Store. The building hes aflat agphdt roof, concrete foundation and an exterior of multi-colored
dretcher bond brick. The south (117) storefront hes an original single-light glass and wood door and rectangular
transom. Display windows are origina and rest on concrete succoed bulkheads. The north (119) storefront was dtered
ca 1970 and hes duminum and glass doors, display windows and brick bulkheads. The transom areaabovethe
gtorefront hes been enclosed with stucco. Above both storefronts are metd awnings. The upper fagede of the building
hes rectangular pands outlined in heeder course brick above both storefronts. At the rooflineis a pargpet wall of
heaedar course brick. Windows on the north fagede of the building have been endosed with brick. An entrance on this
facade hes aca 1970 ged and glassdoor. At the rear of the building is a succoed wing with an entrance on the north
fagade. Atthe comer isasgn for Brown Rexall Dmgs. The interior of 117 hes awood floor, plaster walls and added
tile ceiling. The interior of 119 has a carpeted floor, plagter walls and tile ceiling.

120 N. Main Streset, ca. 1930 (McLean Auto Supply) (C)

Onegory brick commercia building buih ca 1930. The building originaly contained storefronts facing both N. Main
Stret and E. First Street. At 112 E. First Street the building contained the McLean Auto Supply Store for many years.
The building hes aflat agphdt roof, concrete foundation and an exterior of multi-colored wire brick. The storefront on
Main Stret hes aca 1970 aluminum and glassdoor, original copper, glass and wood display windows and original
brick bulkheeds. Abovethe storefront and extending onto the First Street fagade isaca 1980 wood awning supported
by knee brace brackets and tie rods. The First Street fagede has three original display windows resting on brick
bulkheads This fagade hes a pededrian entrancewith ca 1990 sted double doors. The eedt two bayson this fagede
have garage openings. The eedt garage bay has aca 1990 overheed track metd door. The west garage bay hes been
endosed with wood pandls. The interior has been remodded with added carpet, wall pandling and partitions. One area
retainsitsorigina pressed metd ceiling; mog hes been concedled above anew dropped ceiling.

201-205 N, Main Street, ca. 1925 (American National Bank) (NC)

One- and two-story brick building extensvely remodded ca 1975. The building originally housed the American
Nationa Bank. The ca 1975 remodeling includes the addition of stone venear and stucco, a mansard roof of clay tile
and duminum and glasswindows and doors. The building now housesthe Bank of Commerce.

207-209 N. Main Strest, ca. 1920 (C)

Onegory brick commercia building congmcted ca. 1920. The building hes aflat agphdt roof, concrete foundation,
and exterior of multi-colored gretcher bond brick. The building hes two storefronts. The south (207) storefront hes a
ca 1970 aduminum and glassdoor and aluminum and glass display windows. The display windowsrest on Formica
and duminum bulkheeds. The north (209) storefront hes ca 1970 duminum and glass door and the display windows
have been covered with metd pands. Benegth the display windows are original brick bulkheads. Infront of this
storefront isaca 1980 handicapped accessramp with ameta rail. The transoms above both storefronts are concedled
benesth aca 1980 wood canopy supported by metd tie rods. Above both transom areesare soldier course lintels. The
uppe fagade hes rectangular pands above eech storefront outlined in heeder course brick. At the rooflineis a sepped
pargpet with heeder course brick.
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211-213 N. Main Street, ca. 1920 (C)

At thislocation isaone-gtory brick commercial building congmcted ca 1920 with two storefronts. The north (213)
storefront hes ca. 1970 aluminum and glass door and three luminum and glassdisplay windows. The display windows
res on abulkhead of ca 1970 brick. The transom has duminum and glasspainted pands. Across the orefront isaca
1980 metd awning supported by metd tie rods. The south (211) storefront has aca 1970 duminum and glass door,
duminum and glassdisplay windows and brick bulkheads. Abovethe storefront is an duminum and glass flve-panel
transom with painted lights. This storefront hes aca 1990, metal canopy supported by tie rods. The upper fagades
above both gorefronts have soldier course lintels over the transoms. Both upper facades have rectangular brick pands
outlined in heeder course brick. Within the pandsare soldier and sailor brick course. At the roofline is agepped
pargpet with heeder course brick. The building hes aflat agphdt roof, concrete foundation, and an exterior of tan ad
orange sretcher bond brick. The interior of 211 hes added floor, wall and ceiling surfaces. The 213 interior hes
origind plaster walls, a concrete floor and dropped tile ceiling.

212 N. Main, 1935 (C)

One-gory brick and clay tile building. Single central door with transom in symmetrica storefront. Transomsover plate
glassdigplay windows covered. The wood frame shed-type canopy is sugpended with tie rods, and is covered with
wood shingles.

215N. Main Street, ca. 1925 (C)

One-dory brick building congmcted ca. 1925. The building hes a concrete foundation, aflat roof of agphdt and an
exterior of tan textured stretcher bond brick. The storefront hes aca 1990 aluminum and glassdoor with siddlights.
Above the entrance is arectangular transom covered with awood paned. The display windows were added ca. 1990
and are fixed three-light desgn with added wood pandsabove. The storefront retains original brick bulkheeds. At the
rooflineis a sepped pargpat with header course brick. The interior has added carpet, wall paneling and an acoudticd
tile ceiling.

217 N. Main Street, ca. 1935 (Post Office) (C)

Onedory brick commercid building congmcted ca 1935. The building housad the McLean Pogt Office during the
1940s and 1950s The building hes aflat roof of agphdt, aconcrete foundation, and an exterior of tan textured Sretcher
bond brick. The storefront was remodded ca 1980 and hes two entrance bays. The south bay hes aca 2000 metd

door and the north bay has plywood pandsover the opening. The display window is duminum and glassdesgn and
regson original brick bulkheads. Abovethe south bay entranceis atransom endosad with awood pandl. Abovethe
gorefront isa soldier coursebrick lintel. At the roofline is a heeder course pargpet wall. The interior hes a carpeted
floor, plaster wallsand plagter ceiling.

218 N. Main Strest, ca. 1925 (C)

Onegory brick building with nonhistoric metal-framed glass storefront topped by origina transoms. The sepped
pargpet is rough-faced brown brick with cross-shaped decorative dark brick dements where the awning's tie rods
connect, and dark brick laid ina soldier course inthe row just under the brick coping.

219 N. Main Streset, ca. 1920 (C)

Onegory brick building congmcted ca 1920. The building hes aflat roof of agphdt, a poured concrete foundation,
and an exterior of sx-course common bond brick. The main fagade has a storefront whh brick bulkheeds and three
original display windows. The display windows have been covered with plywood pands. The main entrance ismissing
hs door and the opening hes aplywood pand. Above the door opening is an original single-light rectangular transom.
Abovethe gtorefront is atransom covered with plywood pands. The upper fagade features irregular courses of



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No 1024-0018
(889)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

McLean Commercial Historic District
Section 7_Page 15 McLean, Gray County, Texas

common bond brick. At the rooflineis a pargpet wall of heeder bond brick. The north fagade of the building hes two
entrances whh added metd and wood pands. One window bay hes been covered with wood pandswhile another hes
origina paired four-over-four wood sash windows. The interior hes the remnants of apressed metd ceiling, concrete
floor and plaster walls.

220 N. Main Street, ca. 1925 (C)

Two-gtory brown brick Masonic building whh modem red brick storefront. The transoms and upper windows have
been bricked in. This building- the tdlest on the block - features aflat awning, plain brick pargpet, dedication
comergone, and Masonic logosin an inset cadt plague above the second-floor windows. Currently used as McLean
Chy Hall.

119 E. Railroad Street, ca. 1955 (Consumer's Supply Company) (C)

One-gory concrete block ges gtation buih ca 1955. The gas station was congmcted for owners Ted Glass and Arthur
Dwyer who moved their busnessto this location from Main Street after Railroad Stret was designated as the esdt-
bound lanesof U.S. Route 66. Known as the Consumer's Supply Company, this busness sold ges and automobile
products. The rear wing housed asmall grocery dore for travelers. The building hes apoured concrete foundation, a
gableroof of crimped metd pandsand an exterior of concrete block. The main (S) fagade of the building hes an office
a the SE comer of the building and alatera wing with two garage bays. The main entrance hes aca 1970 panded
wood door. Flanking the entrance are origina thirty-light auminum and glasswindows. The windows are fixed-light
design exoept for the four-light jalousie pandsa the comers. The windows have concrete sills. The two garage bays
have original twenty-light glassand wood overheed track doors. Attached on the west fagedeis an original one-dory
concreteblock lateral wing. This wing hes aca 1970 solid wood pedestrian door and an origina thirty-six light glass
and wood overheed track garage door. Windows in this wing are original thirty-light duminum and glassdesign. Inthe
front of the building is a concrete pad and a concrete pump isand with three ges pumps. The eest fagade of the
building hes atwenty-light duminum and glasswindow with comer pandsof three-light jalousie design. Also on this
fagade are two entrancesto bathrooms, which have been enclased with wood pandls.

Attached on the rear fagade is an original one-story concrete block wing which contained a grocery sore. Thiswing
hes a gorefront facing eet and the entrance has an original two-light glassand wood door. The storefront windows
have been endosed with wood pands. Acrassthe storefront is an original shed roof canopy supported by ded pods
The north fagade of this wing hes atwelve-light glassand wood garage door.

101 W. Railroad Street, ca. 1952 (C) Sign (C)

One-gory concrete block ges gtation built ca 1952. The building hes a concrete foundation, flat agphah roof and an
exterior of painted concrete block. The officesection hes an original two-light sed and glassdoor. The display
windows are origina auminum and glassdesign and rest on concrete block bulkheads. The garage section has two
original twenty-light glass and wood overhead track doors. On the west fagede are two bathroom entrances enclossd
with stucco. At the north and eedt fagades are three original eight-light sted and glass awning windows. In front of the
building isaca 1965 metd canopy, which restson two sted podgts. The original pump idand beneath the canopy hes
bean removed but the foundation isvisible. In addition, in front of the building isa sted hoig and pulley for
automoative and tmck service. At the SV comer of the property is an original Sed sgnpost.

201 W. Railroad Street, 1952 (Crockett Service Station) (C) Sgns (NC and C)

One-gtory concrete block gas gtation built in 1952. The gas dation was congmcted for Emery Crockett who aso
operated the Texas Gas Station on W. First Street. The building hes aflat agphalt roof, concrete foundation, and stucco
exterior. The office section hes an original single-light glassand wood door. Above the door is an original transom.
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The display windows were rebuilt ca. 1960 with wood and glasswindows reging on concrete bulkheads The garage
stion hastwo originalfifteen-lightglassand wood overhead track doors The eedt fagade has two bathroom entrances
with original pand and wood doors The bathrooms have tiled and plager walls. The narth fagade hasan original one-
over-onewood sash window. The wes fagade has two original one-over-onewood sash windows. In front of the
building isan original oval shaped concrete pump idand. The office interior hasa conaréefloor ,drywall celling and
addad panding on the walls The garage interior has a conareéefloor ,walls of cormgated metal and awood celing. In
front of thebuilding isa ca. 1970 Texaco 9gn and aca. 1940 4ed dSgn pole

203 W. Railroad Street, ca. 1940 (C)

One-dory frame dwelling built ca 1940 inthe Pyramid Square plan. The house has ahipped roof of crimped metd, a
concrete foundation and stucco exterior. On the main (S) fagadeis a fitll-width shed roof porch whh ca 1960 wrought
iron pogts. The main entrance hes aca. 1980 solid wood door. Windowsare origina one-over-one wood saeh design.
At the eaves are exposd rafters. On the eedt fagade is an entrance with aca 1980 solid wood door.

Brick Streets and Route 66 alignments (C)
The sysem of brick gtreets and both aignments of Route 66 within the district (on First and Railroad Streets) are
included in this nomination as a Sngle contributing stmcture.

219 N. Rowe, 1930 (C)

The former Southwestem Public Service Co. ice factory and power plant isa 1-dory brick and day tile building.

Water Tower, c.1925 (C)

The devated ged plate devated water dorage tank features afull hemispherica bottom and aconica cap. Probably
manufactured by the Chicago Iron and Bridge Company.
Tables of properties in thedistrict

Address Date Status Misc.
115 N. Commerce c.196() NC
13 E. Firg c.1925 C Barr Auto Service and Supply
14 E. Frg c.1925 C Consumer's Supply Company
115 E. Firs C1920 C
116 E. Firs €.1930 C B&BCde
17 E. Firgs c.1925 C
119 E. Frs 1945 C Mantooth's Chevron Station
118120 H. Frd c.1925 C  Penhandle Service Station
11 W. Firgt c.1925 C
116 W. First c.1925 c City Hall
119 W. Firgt €.1930 C Texas Savice Sation
120 W. First 1946 Cc Dysat Motor Co./Ellison Motor Co.
207 W. Firgt C1930 C
212 W. First Cl1935 C
212a W. Firg Cl19b C ogaage
213 W. Firg c.1925 C
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Address Date Status Misc.

215 W. Firg c.1950 C

218 W. Firg 1429 C Phillips 66 Gas Station

312 W. First 1950 C  Guyton Motor Co.

113115 W. First c1925 C

16 N. Main c.1920 C

106 N. Main C.1940, 1980 NC

107 N. Main 1936 C

108 N. Main €.1930 C  Brooks Dry Goods

110 N. Main c.1925 C

113 N. Main ¢.1920, ¢.2000 NC MclLean Hadware

115 N. Main C1915 C Stubblefield Department Store

120 N. Main ¢.1930 C McLean Auto Supply

201 N. Main c.1925 NC  American Nationa Bank

215 N. Main c.1925 C

27 N. Main c.1935 c PosOffice

219 N. Main €.1920 C 219 N.Main Sireet, ca 1920 (C)

101-103 N. Main 1914 C  Hindman Hotel

112-118 N. Main €.1920 C  White Auto Store

117-119 N. Main c.1925 C MclLean Food Store

207-209 N. Main €.1920 C

211-213 N. Main €.1920 C

212 N. Main ¢.1920 C Claytileand brick |-part commercid block; painted
218 N. Main €.1920 C  Brick 1-pat commercia block

220 N. Mam c. 1920 C 2-part commercia block; Masonic Hall, now City Hall
119 E. Ralroad C19%5 Cc  Consumer's Supply Company

101 W. Railroad C.1952 C

101 W. Railroad C1952 C Sgn (contributing object)

21 W. Railroad 1952 C  Crockett Service Station

2083 W. Railroad C.1940, 1980 C

219 N. Rowe C195 C lce houseand power plant

C.1920 C Route 66 roadbed and brick streets- counted s 1 stmcture

100 bik E Secod C195 C Water tower (ssmcture)
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8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

APPLICABLE NATIONAL REGISTER CRITERIA

X A PROPERTY ISASSOCL\TED WITH EVENTS THAT HAVE MADE A SIGNIHCANT CONTRIBUTION TO THE BROAD
PATTERNS OF OUR HISTORY.
B PROPERTY ISASSOCLATED WITH THE LIVES OF PERSONS SIGNIHCANT IN OUR PAST.
X C PROPERTY EMBODIES THE DISTINCTIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF A TYPE, PERIOD, OR METHOD OF CONSTRUCTION
OR REPRESENTS THE WORK OF A MASTER, OR HIGH ARTISTIC VALUES, OR REPRESENTS A
SIGNIHCANT AND DISTINGUISHABLE ENTITY WHOSE COMPONENTSLACK INDIVIDUAL DISTINCTION.

D PROPERTY HASYIELDED, ORISLIKELY TO YIELD INFORMATION IMPORTANT IN PREHISTORY OR HISTORY.

CRITERIA CONSIDERATIONS: N/A

AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE: Architecture, Commerce, Transportatioii

PERIOD OF SIGNIFICANCE: 1914-1956

SIGNIFICANT DATES: 1932

SIGNIFICANT PERSON: N/A

CULTURAL AFFILIATION: N/A

ARCHITECT/BUILDER: unknown

NARRATIVE STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (S2e continuation shests 819 through 8-24).

9. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

BIBLIOGRAPHY (See continuation shegts 9-25).
PREVIOUS DOCUMENTATION ON FILE (NPS): N/A
_ preiminary determination of individua listing (36 CFR 67) hasbeen requested.
_ previoudy listed in the Nationa Regigter
_ previoudy determined dligible by the Nationa Regider
_ desgnated a National Historic Landmark
_recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
_recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #
PRIMARY LOCATION OF ADDITIONAL DATA:
X Statehistoric preservation office (TexasHistorical Commission)
_ Other gate agency
_ Feded agency
_ Locd govemment
_ Universty
X Other ~ Specify Repository: (Devil's Rope Museum, McLean. Texas)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The McLean Commercid Historic Digtrict is located in the Panhandletown of McLean, Texas (2005 pop. et 292).
The didtrict is primarily commercia in character and is located inthe town's historic busness areadong what wes
formerly U.S. Route 66. The McLean Commercid Historic District is nominated to the National Register under
Criterion A inthe areaof Commerce as the historic commercid areatha served aregiond population as well as
intergate travelers dong Route 66, with awide variety of grocery dores hardware gores, ges sations, and automobile
repair shops The didtrict is dso eligible under Criterion C inthe areaof Architecture as an intact collection of early to
mid-20"" century commercid buildings, typical of those found throughout the midwest United States The district
contains forty-four buildings, of which forty (91%) are identified as contributing to the significance of the district.
These buildings reflect vemacular commercid building forms, as well as severd examples of ges station desgnsof the
mid-20th century, as discussed in the MPS document Route 66 in Texas The district dso containsthe Avalon
Theater which is a notable example of the Art Deco style of the 1930s Of al the smdl towns dong U.S. Route 66in
Texas, the McLean Commercid Higtoric District contains the largest and mogt notable collection of buildings
assodaed with this highway.

The town of McLean, Texas emerged dong the line of the newly completed Rock Idand Railroad inthe Texas
Panhandle during the early twentieth century. In 1901, the ste was little more than acattle loading goot dong the
tracks where the railroad company had dug awater well and congructed a switch and section house In November of
1902, loca rancher Alfred Rowe donated 640 acresof his land near the switching station for the deveopment of a
town. The town was named McLean in honor of Texaslegidator and Railroad Commissoner W.P. McLean, and it
00N deveoped as a center of agricultura production, with watermeons, swine, and cattle being the principle
products.'

Over the next few years, McLean grew into a substantid railroad town and by 1909 it contained two banks, two
gables two wagon yards, alumber yard, pod office, grocery dores afumituregore, and admg ore. Residents
obtained their water supply from awell inthe middle of Main Street and the large windmill which pumped the water
was a community landmark for many years The first building congmcted on the townsite was a hotel congmcted by
J.R. and Mary Hindman. The Hindmans cameto Gray County in 1902 and JR. worked for the railroad while Mary
cooked for loca ranch hands. They purchased property dong the railroad tracksin McLean for $400 and in 1904
began to operate ahotd there. A few yearslaer they erected atwo-gtory hotd on the ste. In 1914, Fred O'Dell built a
soond hotd in McLean & 101-103 N. Main Street. Known as the O'Dell Hotdl, the two-story, brick smcture
contained sixteen bedrooms and two bathrooms and festured upholstered chairsinthe lobby and osk tablesin the
dining room. In 1916, the Hindmans purchased O'Dell’'s hotd and renamed it the Hindman Hotel. The establishment
became well-known throughout the region for its hospitality and good food. The Hindmans later added an additional
fourteen rooms a the rear of the hotel, which remainson North Main Stregt s the oldest building inthe McLean
Commercid Historic District.*

When McLean incorporated in 1909 it was the first incorporated community in Gray County and the largest town as
well with a population of 663. The number of McLean resdents hed risen to 741 by 1920, but by this time the county

' Gray County Heritage (Ddlas Teylor Publishing, 1985), 66; "McLean, Texas - Whae Time Sands Still," Legads of America,
www legend sofamericaconyTX-McLEanhiml.

* Gray County Heritege (Ddlas Taylor Publishing, 1985),321-322, 67.
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st of Pampato the north hed surpassed McLean in population.' During the 1920s, the oil industry emerged as a new
budness source inthe region, and McLean profited by becoming a major shipping point for ges and oil inaddition to

livestock and agricultural products. The oil boom stimulated new constmction in the town and mog of the downtown

aredsframecommercid buildingswere replaced by new one-story brick buildingsduring this decade.

In 1926, U.S. Route 66 was sdected to follow the dignment of State Highway 75 through the Texas Panhandle. This
highway was dong the generd dignment of what was oncethe Postd Highway that extended through New Mexico
and Texasto Oklahoma City. U.S. Route 66 followed this aignment in an eest-west direction through the Panhandle
passng through a saries of smdl towns such as Shamrock, Alanreed, Conway, Vega, and Glenrio in addition to
McLeaen* Centraly located Amarillo, approximatey sixty-four miles wes of McLean, was the only city through
which U.S. Highway 66 wes digned in Texas.

Ore of the lagt portions of the Sateto be settled, the Texas Panhandle was a sparsdy populated and arid region in the
1920s Roedsinthis section of Texaswere little more than dirt pathsin the early twentieth century. The main eest-west
route was very crooked and had sharp turns that followed section lines. As agriculture boomed and the oil industry
amergad during the 19205 the demand for improved roadways increased subgtantialy. The oil industry generated
subgtantid growth in Amarillo, which became acommercia and corporate center of the region, and led to significant
highway devdopment inthe panhandle” An overview of the region written in 1940 for the Works Projects
Administration, describesthe areaas follows:

US 66 dices through the center of the Texas Panhandle, eedt to west, crossing the High Plains through
aregion once occupied by grest herds of buffalo and bands of Kiowas and Comanches . . .Today this
level expanseisrich, producing oil, gas, wheet, smdl grain crops, and fine Herefords. At intervals the
countryside is covered with apall of anoke from factories and refineries. . . . The population of the
region is predominantly native-bom white. Snce settlement is comparatively new, any 25-year
resdent iscongdered an old-timer.”

U.S. Route 66 wes the primary road in the highway development through the Texas Panhandle in the early twentieth
century. Itsaignment through Texas included First Street inMcLean. Asit did inseverd small towns throughout the
country, the road helped to boost McLean's economy by bringing thousands of traveers to the town. Many busnesses
gorang up aong the route to take advantage of the passing motorists including ges stations, motds, and cafes. This
prosperity led to adoubling of the town's population during the 1920sand by 1930 McLean contained 1521 resdents.

" 1bid., 66, Hose Lane "Md_ean Was Once the Largest Town in Gray Courtty,” Pampg(Texas) Nens 3 Sgatambar 1990, Md_een
Nens Higoricd Edition, 14 e 1979.
" Midched Cassity, "Route 66 Corridor Nationdl Higtoric Context Study.” (Route 66 Corridor Presarvation Program, National
Tralls Sydam Office - Intermountain Region, Nationd Pak Savice Sata Fe, New Mexico, Decarba 15, 2004), 76-78.
' "Kiwanians Told How "66 Paving Hdps™ Amaillo Dally Neas 13 July 1928, "Texas Higoric Roue 66,"
http: /AN . captivaimageus Routesd/

"Raute 66: Aaoss 1930s Texas" fi-om Texes A Guide to the Lone Star Siate, compiled and wrritten by the Fedard Writers
Prget of the Works Prgjects Adminidration for the Siate of Texas 1940. Available online &
http://membersad.comhsauatiey/rteiwpa. tx.ntm.
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Travd-related Busnesses and Buildingsin tbe District

McLean was mapped in 1932 by the Sanbom Insurance Company and the downtown areadong Main Stregt hows an
amog solid row of brick commercid buildings (Figures 1 and 2). The dignment of U.S. Route 66 followed First
Stret and the 1932 mgp shows a number of gasdations, repair shops, garages, and tourist courts dong thisstreet. To
the eedt of Rowe Strest were two tourist courts which are no longer extant (Figure 3). The 1932 magp shows eight ges
dations located directly on First Stregt while aninth isa the northeest comer of Main and Railroad Streets. Three of
these gss dations remain sanding; the Phillips 66 Gas Station a 218 W. First Street, the Texas Sarvice Station & 119
W. Firg Stregt and the Panhandle Sarvice Station a 118-120 E. First Street. The ges dations shown a 302 W. Firgt
Sreat and 119 E. Firgt Street were later replaced with new ges dations. During the 1930s and 1940s U.S. Route 66
continued to generate anumber of busnessesin downtown McLean. The dignment through MclLean was paved in
1933 and dl of U.S. Route 66 was paved through the panhandle during this decade.

The subgtantid traffic through McLean during the mid-20" century resulted in the eventua constmction of nineteen
gses dations dong First and Railroad Streets and these ges dations reflect the evolution of this property type. From the
1920s to the 19505 gasoline gtations evolved from small curbside filling stations to daborate service gations that
offered awide range of supplies, sarvices, and repairs. The first filling Sations were often an additional service offered
a agrocery, hardware, or other sore and conssted smply of one or two gasoline pumps Situated dong the curb.
Safety concams led to the development of off-street, drive-in gasoline gations. The first of theseweresmple
utilitarian sheds of metd, clapboard or tarpaper which st off the road and were accessed viaadirt or gravel driveway.
In addition to gasoline they typically sold oils, greesesand other equipment. By the 1930s, gas sations had evolved
into service dations with many Stuated on large comer lots in neighborhoods.

Automobile use in the United States roserapidly in the 1920s and 1930s and the number of ges gtations multiplied in
tum. In hisbook. Pump and Circumstance, Glory Days of the Gas Station, author John Margolies gates "The
overbuilding of ges gations in the 1920s was exceaded only by the building boom of the 1930s There were 143,000
retail outlets for gas in 1929, 170,000 by 1933, and this number ballooned to a saggering 231,000 in 1940."" Gasoline
consumption shot up as well. In 1909, gasoline consumption accounted for 25% of the petroleum market. A short ten
yearslaer, it was 85%."

Theinitia wave of roadsde gas ations were privately owned and operated. The rapidly expanding industry aong
with increesng devdopment and improvementsto roads presented individual entrepreneurs with an opportunity to
begin their own budness, oftenwith little initial investment. Like motels, restaurants, and other roaddde busnesses,
gss dations were often family mn enterprises. As auch, their syles and designs varied and reflected the individual
teges and persondlities of the owners. But perhgps due to the nature of their product, ges dations quickly meade the
trandtion to corporate chains well beforetheir counterparts. The trend for petroleum companies to own and operate
their own gations began in the 1930s These companies had a competitive advantage over the independent owners, and
an increasing amourt of the privately owned gas stations were forced out of business!'

The large companies employed successful marketing plans, which included sandard architectural designsfor their
dations In order to draw business, oil companies often fashioned their gations as smal cottages or houses. These
typicaly hed ahigh pitched gable roof and contained an office area, gorage room, and public resrooms. The "Houseg"

" Magdies, Rump and Gircumgance: Glory Days of the Gas Station, 58.
JHdead Saulle The Gas Saion in Amarica, 50.
" Cesdty, "Roue 66 Corridor Nationd Higoric Context Sudy,” 171-173.
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dyle gas gations reflected conmion designs such as English Cottages, Colonial, or Tudor influences. Astheindustry
progressed, canopies were added to the front of the building to provide aprotective roof over the pumps Service bays
were often added for washing and repairing vehicles. Hat roofs became more common as ges gations began to drop
the houseimage and took on the form of an "Oblong Box." During the 1940sand 1950s porcelain enamd exteriors
dominated gasoline station styles, which displayed amore sreamlined modem design.™

Thefirst corporate ges station to gppear in McLean was the Phillips 66 station & 218 W. First Street. Thebuilding's
Tudor Revivd (dso caled "English Cottage") desgn complete with shutters and exterior brick chimney reflected the
common trend of ges gations built to reflect cottages or homes. Built in 1929, this particular station was the first
Phillips 66 ges dation established in Texas. The gation operated in McLean for severd decades with the lag proprietor
being Charles Weaver, who owned the gation from 1959 until it dosed in 1977. Although no longer inuse, the station
remans intact and hes been interpreted for travelers dong U.S. Route 66.

A tota of twenty-two auto-rdated budnesseswere inoperation inMcLean in 1948 with the vag majority being ges
dations. In addition to the three previoudy mentioned businesses, the city directory for that yeer lists: Barr Auto
Sarvice and Supply, Dysat Motor Company, Graham's Conoco Service Station, Gulf Service Station, Kelly Walter
Sarvice Station, McLean Auto Supply, Midway Motors, Modem Cabins & Service Station, Panhandle Sarvice Station,
Patterson MagnoliaService Station, PK Wholesale Oil Co., Shelly Sarvice Station, 66 Service Station, Texaco
Gasoling, Texas Savice Station, Warren Petroleum Co., White Auto Store, Williams Service Station, and Windom
Sarvice Station & Courts.” All but five of these twenty-two busnesseswere located on First Street (U.S. Route 66) or
Main Street.

McLean's ges gations reflect the typical evolution of the industry during the early twentieth century. Early sations,
such asthe D'Spain Sarvice Station located a 212 N. Main Street from 1926 to 1935 hed pumps & the strest and a
garagein the rear (no longer extant). Many dations were individually owned and operated, but severad became
affiliated with a corporate oil company such as Phillips, Texaco, Gulf, or Chevron. However, mogt remained family
operated bugnesses, auch s the sation a 201 W. Railroad Street, which was operated by Emery and Marye Crockett.
Over time, gations began to offer more products and sarvices, as a 1950 ad for the local Chevron ges station
demondrates. It assertsthe gation isa " Complete One-Stop Service For Your Car' and notesthat in additionto ges
tires, and batteries, sarvices such as washing and lubrication are available, and the gation servesas an agent for Lee
Way and Motor Way Freight Lines.”* The Guyton Motor Company, which opened in 1950 and operated until the mid-
1990s offered atwenty-four hour wrecker and mechanic service. The syle of ges stations d 0 begen to change as
drive-thm bays canopies, and garage wings became more conmion.

Additional ges sations and other auto-related busnesses in McLean included Consumer's Supply Company &l M E.
First Street. Here proprietors Ted Glassand Arthur Dwyer sold tires, kerosene, and other related products. In the mid-
19505 Glass and Dwyer had anew building constmcted a the comer of Railroad and Rowe Strets (119 E. Railroad
Stret) to housetheir business. In addition to the auto supply store, a small grocery operated in the back of the
building. Also during the 1940s Odell Mantooth operated ages station at the comer of Rowe and First Strets (119 E.
Firg St.). In 1945, he sold the gation to Plains Lubricating Company of Amarillo and lessed the Sation as Mantooth's

Jekle and Sculle, The Gas Station in America, 133-152.
" McLean City Directory, (The Southwestem States Teephone Company, 1948)
McLean City Directory, (The Southwestem States Tdephone Company, 1950).
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Chevron Station. Mantooth continued to operate the ges station until his death in 1981. For his thirty-six years of
svice d the station from 1945 to 1981, he received an honorary recognition from the Standard Oil Company.

Numerous other types of businesses d sofi ouri shedin McLean during the heyday of U.S. Route 66, some of which like
the ges dations catered to the tourists who traveled the busy highway. Theseincluded motds and tourist courts as well
& cafes and restaurants. During the 1930sand 1940s, overnight accommodations were available a the Modem Courts
a 305 E. Firg Strest, the Modem Cabinsa 209 E. First Street, and the Windom Courts on W. First Stret & the edge
of town. Lodging was a0 available a the Hindman Hotel on Main Stret. All of thesetourist cabins were later razed.
Severd motd buildings on the eestem and westem edges of town remain extant dthough only one, the Cactus Motel,
remansin operation.

Other Commercial Properties in the District

Mog other commercid buildings inthe district can be characterized as 1 -pat commercid blocks, terminology devised
by Richard Longstreth in The Buildings of Main Street (1987). Ascommercid buildings often do not aways exhibit
the characterigtics of high syles, Longstreth'sty pology is basad on facade organization. Architectural detailing may
be ether prominent or totally lacking; high-style examples are identified by both style and facade composition.
One-pat commercid blocks can be free-standing or part of arow. The one-part commercid block usualy consgts of
one or two windows and acentra doorway. Fase pargpet frontsor brick coping often enhancethe upper wall. The
common vemeacular storefront type typically features alarge, plate glassdisplay window on either Sde of a degply
reces=d entryway.  Transoms abovethe display windows provide additiona light into the interior.

Mogt busnessesadong Main Street provided typical small town services such as barber shops, clothing Sores,
insurance companies, and hardware gores. One of the mog notable buildings congmcted in the downtown area during
thes= yearswas the Avalon Theater & 107 N. Main Street. This two-story, brick building was constmcted in 1936 in
the Art Deco gyle with a recessad entrance and ticket booth. Mr. and Mrs. Edgar Adams owned and operated the
Avalon, which opened its doorson March 26, 1936 with the movie "Follow the Fleef garring Fred Agtaire and Ginger
Rogers The McLean News covered the opening and found the building's modem design and decorative detail
impressve: "The foyer of the building is decorated in marble and the modernidtic front gives a beautiful touch to that
pat of Main Stret." In 1940, the Adams family aso leasad the Lone Star Theetre which opened a 110 W. First
Street in July of 1936 (razed).

Theevaried busnesses provided MclLean with athriving economy for many yearsand madeit afavorite sopping
point for U.S. Route 66 travelers. To dleviate the traffic congestion through town, the Texas Highway Department
rebuih U.S. Route 66 into a four-lane highway through McLean in 1951. This constmction included turning First
Strest into atwo-lane westbound lane and tuming Railroad Street into atwo-lane eastbound lane. As areault of this
new dignment, severd new ges Sations were built on the north Sde of Railroad Stret from 1952 to 1955, three of
which remain extant inthe district & 101 and 201 W. Railroad Street and 101 E. Railroad Street.

Around this time McLean had some fifty to sixty retail establishments in its downtown budnessdistrict. McLean's
population remaned around 1,500 throughout the 1930sand 1940s, but begen to taper of f during the following

decades In 1950 it hed dropped to 1,439 and was down to 1,330 in 1960." McLean retained a Seedy economy that
relied largely ontourist traffic but this livelihood was threastened with the constmction of Interstate 40 through the

McLean News 26 March 1936, pege 1.
The Daily Spokesman, 50th Anniversary of Gray County, 1952; McLean Ne'vs 14 June, 1979.
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Texas Panhandle inthe late 1970s The path of the interstate bypassed many of the small towns that had come to
depend on the busness of U.S. Route 66 motorists. MclLean wes the last town aong U.S. Route 66 in Texasto be
bypassed by the new highway, which was completed through the areain July of 1984." Budnessesin McLean
suffered and its population dwindled. Although some businesses managed to remain open, many sores, restaurants,
and ges gaions cdosed as areault of the decreesein traffic through the town.

McLean currently hes a population of just under 800 residents and its downtown area gopearsmuch as it did during the
busy yearsof U.S. Route 66. The notable exception is the loss of buildings a the northeast comer of Main and First
Stregtswhich were logt to both fire and demolition. This comer is now occupied by asmal park. With this exception,
the downtown area of McLean retains much of its mid-twentieth century gppearance. The town's collection of early-
twentieth century commercid buildingsaong with deven gas dations in the immediate downtown areaprovidesa
srong san=e of time and place of the community's transportation heritage on U.S. Route 66. The Hindman Hotel, the
Avaon Theater, and many of the ges dations are currently vacant but thereis renewed interest inretoration efforts by

property owners.

" Pampa Nens 29 duly 1934, pege 2, "McdLean, Texas - Whae Time Sands Still on Route 66", Legads of America,
w-ww legendsofemeaicacom/TX-Md_eenhim.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary for the McLean Commercia Historic District isillustrated on the accompanying Gray County Tax Map.
The boundary includes all of blocks 25, 36, 37, lots 1-15 of block 24, lots |-10 and 16-20 of block 38, lots 6-14 of
block 23, and lots 14 of block 39 on the original township plat of McLean, Texas. This boundary encompesses
commercid properties dong Main Stredt, First Street, Second Street, Railroad Street, Commerce Street, and Rowe
Street.

VERBAL BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundary for the McLean Commercia Historic Ditrict is drawn to include the largest number of contiguous pre-
1956 properties remaining in the downtown area of McLean. While there are severd additional pre-1956 ges stations
in adjacent blocks to the eedt and west, thesebuildings are sgparated by numerous pos-1956 buildings or dtered
buildings. South of Railroad Sirest are a large number of vacant lots and modem commercia buildings. North of the
digtrict boundary are pog-1956 public buildings and resdences.
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Figure 1: The McLean Sanbom Insurance Map of 1932 shows a solid row of brick buildings along Main Strest between
Firs and Railroad Streets. The ges dtation and garagesa 119 W. First Strest and 120 E. First Sirest are dready in
operation. The ges sation a the northwest comer of Main and Rowe Stregtswes replaced ca. 1940 by Mantooth's
Chevron Station. The ges dtation & the northeast comer of Main and Railroad Streetsis no longer extant.
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Figure2: A near solid row of brick buildingsisshownonN. Main Strest between First and Second Sireets on the 1932
Sanbom Insurance Map.
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Fgure3: Ead of Rowe Strest on E. First Street (U.S. Route 66) are two tourist courts and severd ges stationswhich ae
no longer extant. (Courtesy TexasHistorical Commission).
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Strestscegpe of the west Sde of the 100 block of N. Main Street, view to the northwest.
Strectscgpe of the east Sde of the 100 block of N. Main Stredt, view to the northees.
Strectscgpe of the west Sde of the 200 block of N. Main Stredt, view to the southwedt.
Strectscegpe of the north dde of the 100 block of E. Firg Stredt, view to the northwest.
Strestscgpe of the south Sde of the 100 block of N. Main Strest showing the
westbound lanes of historic U.S. Route 66, view to the southeest.

Strectscegpe of the north Sde of the 100 block of W. First Street, view to the northwedt.
Strectscgpe of south Sde of the 200 block of W. First Street, view to the southeed.
Stregtscape of the north Sde of the 100 and 200 blocks of W. Railroad Strest showing
the eastbound lanes of historic U.S. Route 66, view to the eadt.

Hindman Hotd a 101-103 N. Main Streel. view to the northwest.

112-118 N. Main Strest, view to the northesdt.

117-119 N. Main Strest, view to the northwest.

Avalon Theater & 107 N. Main Strest, view to the northwest.

120 E. Firs Strest, view to thewest.

Phillips 66 Sarvice Station a 218 W. First Street, view to the south.

119W. Firg Strest, view to the northesdt.

19 E. First Strest, view to the northwest.

207 W. Firs Stredt, view to the northwest.

215 W. Firs Strest, view to the north.

101 W. Railroad Strest, view to the northwest.

201 W. Rallroad Stredt, view to the northwest.

119 E. Rallroad Strest, view to the northwest.
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